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THE CHAIRPERSON'S 

REPORT

It gives me pleasure to present to the Minister of 

Finance, Economic Planning and Development and 

all our most valued clients and stakeholders the 

2017/18 Annual Report of the Roads Fund 

Administration (RFA).

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

On behalf of the Board of Directors, and on my own 

behalf, I am delighted to report that during the 

2017/18 financial year, the RFA continued to make 

great strides in its mandate of financing public roads. 

We have made very good progress in implementing 

the Government of Malawi's approved public service 

reforms in the following areas;

1. The RFA issued a Mk10 billion Roads Bond facility 

from NBS Bank which is being used to finance the 

rehabilitation and upgrading to a dual carriage 

way, the Area 49 to Parliament roundabout road. 

This was one of the RFA's approved reform areas.

2. In the year, the Roads Fund Administration 

 introduced the Road Access Fees on all small 

 foreign registered vehicles. This has already 

 improved revenue collection for the Roads Fund.

3. The RFA completed the automation of its payment 

systems whose objective is to improve efficiencies 

in payment processes. The system is already 

yielding the intended benefits. 

4. Progress has also been made in the preparatory 

works for implementation of the tolling initiative. 

We are very appreciative of the Government's 

support in this area which when fully implemented 

will increase the inflows into the Road Fund.

 

The increasing revenue trends that were reported in 

the previous year continued in the year under review. 

As a result, the Board increased funding allocations 

to the implementing agencies for various road works 

and safety programs. However, although this was the 

case, the need to deepen and widen the revenue 

sources remains. This is the reason we have 

continued to pursue the tolling initiative as I have 

alluded to earlier.

OUTLOOK FOR THE YEAR 2018/19

2018/19 looks very bright. With potential for 

growth in revenues, it is anticipated that the Board 

will make increased allocations to the Annual 

National Road Maintenance Programme (ANRP), the 

Special City Council Road Maintenance Programme, 

the promotion of Road Safety Programme and the 

Community Road Maintenance Programme. It is our 

desire to see that many roads are accessible all year 

round and are of high quality for the benefit of road 

users in Malawi.

The Board will also continue to play its oversight role 

to ensure that the resources are well utilised and that 

the road users get best value for money.

The RFA's strategic plan comes to an end in 

2018/19. The Board will ensure that a replacement 

strategic plan is in place by end of that year to guide 

the strategic direction of the RFA.
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APPRECIATION

I would like to sincerely thank the Minister of Finance, 

Economic Planning and Development, the Secretary 

to Treasury, and the entire management team at the 

Ministry for the continued support and guidance.

On a special note let me thank my fellow Board 

members for their dedication to the Board's duties 

during the year. They demonstrated a selfless spirit in 

the discharge of their responsibilities as Directors. 

I would also like to extend my appreciation to the 

Board and Management of the Roads Authority and 

Councillors and Management of the country's four 

city councils for the cordial relationship that continues 

to exist with the RFA as their financier.  

Let me thank the African Development Bank, World 

Bank, European Union and other Malawi 

Government cooperating partners for their support to 

the roads sector in the country.

Last but not least, I would like to thank Management 

and Staff of the Roads Fund Administration for their 

hard work and commitment to duty during the year 

under review.

Bernadette Mandoloma

BOARD CHAIRPERSON
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THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER'S REPORT

PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

The Roads Fund registered growth of 8.4% in 

revenue from K34.85 billion in previous year to 

K37.80 billion. The growth is largely driven by a 

15.5% growth in fuel levy revenue. Road works 

expenditures also grew 18.3% signifying an increase 

in road maintenance and rehabilitation investment. 

The overall result was a deficit of K1.7 billion. There 

are adequate reserves to finance the deficit. 

Unlike the previous year where the rate of utilisation 

of resources by implementing agencies was a major 

challenge, the current year had shown significant 

improvement with over 75% of the year's allocated 

resources to implementing agencies having been 

utilised by end of year. 

This improving trend is likely to continue and all 

agencies will continue to be engaged to ensure 

resources are utilised efficiently and effectively.

ROADS FUND BOND 

During the year under review, the Administration 

issued a K10.0 billion roads bond through the NBS 

Bank in two tranches. The first tranche was for K7.0 

billion for the rehabilitation of the Bingu National 

stadium to Parliament roundabout road into a dual 

carriage way. The second tranche was for K3.0 

billion to add to resources required for the 

construction of a Clover leaf interchange along the 

same road. 

This is the RFA's single largest investment from the 

road fund resources and it is also the first time that 

the Administration has issued a bond to finance. In 

addition, it will also be the first time that the country 

will have an interchange of the magnitude as has 

been planned. The RFA is proud to have raised 

resources for such a project. More of such and other 

financing instruments will be used in future.

SPECIAL CITY ROADS PROGRAM

During the year we continued to fund the four city 

councils for their city roads rehabilitation program. A 

total of K6.7 billion was invested in the program 

during the year. It is apparent that the program is 

positively facilitating ease of doing business in the 

cities. 

COMMUNITY ROADS MAINTENANCE 
PROGRAMME (CRMP)

During the year, the Administration replaced tools, 

protective wear and bicycles for the Community 

Roads Maintenance Program. The tools were 

procured at a total cost of K450.0 million. The 

CRMP is currently maintaining 4,633 Km through 

621 community road maintenance clubs in 17 

districts. We are committed to continue funding this 

program. 
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STAFF DEVELOPMENT

We continued to develop our staff through various 

training programs to enhance service delivery and 

efficient execution of the RFA's strategic initiatives. 

Staff were also trained on quality management 

systems as the first step towards eventual attainment 

of ISO 9001 certification. It is the RFA's intention to 

attain certification in the medium term. 

ANTI-CORRUPTION DRIVE

The Administration continues to be vigilant and 

intolerant to fraud and corruption. During the year, 

we continued to subscribe for the Tip-Off Anonymous 

reporting system managed by Deloitte. We also 

constituted an Integrity Committee, had it trained by 

the Anti-Corruption Bureau, to steer the fight against 

the corruption vice.

LOOKING FORWARD

We will continue to widen and deepen the revenue 

base. Tolling remains an area of focus in this respect. 

During the year, a feasibility study commenced on 

tolling but not under a Public Private Partnership as 

was in the previous study. The outcome is that tolling 

on our own is commercially feasible. This will be 

pursued in the coming year. 

We will also enhance our technical audit activities to 

ensure there is value for money in all our 

expenditures. In addittion we will continue our 

engagement initiatives with implementing agencies to 

ensure the culture of value for money is entrenched. 

We will continue our fight against corruption. Zero 

tolerance on corruption remains our corporate and 

individual stand and we will deal decisively on all 

reported cases.  

Our staff are the most valuable asset. We will 

continue to build capacity in a number of areas to 

ensure continued high standards of service delivery 

and also keeping up with best practices. 

VOTE OF THANKS

My appreciation goes to the Chairperson and Board 

of directors of the RFA for their professional guidance 

and support during the year. A number of strides 

were made during the year under the Board's 

guidance and support.

Management and staff of the RFA deserve my 

appreciation too for the invaluable contribution they 

have made towards the achievement of the RFA's 

strategic goals. The RFA has a strong and focused 

team and this is highly appreciated.

Special mention be made to the Honourable Minister 

of Finance. Economic Planning and Development, 

The Secretary to the Treasury, Management and Staff 

of the Ministry for the professional guidance and 

support rendered to the RFA during the year. 

Finally, I would like to thank all our stakeholders, 

both foreign and local for the support given to us. 

We owe you our gratitude.

Stewart Malata

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Roads Fund Administration Board comprises 

seven directors. These are drawn largely from the 

private sector.

Two of the directors come from the public sector. 

These are the Secretary to the Treasury and the 

Secretary for Economic Planning and Development.

One member is appointed from the general public to 

represent the interests of the general public.

Four members are drawn from four designated 

private sector bodies. The bodies are

Ÿ  The financial institutions in Malawi

Ÿ  The Malawi Confederation Chamber of 

Commerce and Industry (MCCCI)

Ÿ  The fuel pricing authority (currently the Malawi 

Energy Regulatory Authority)

Ÿ  The National Local Government Finance 

Committee

The following directors served office during the year 

under review:

Ÿ  Ms. Bernadette Mandoloma (representing the 

financial institutions)'

Ÿ  Mr. Matthews Chikankheni (representing the 

general interest of the public)

Ÿ  Mr. Stanley Chuthi (representing the National 

Local Government Finance Committee)

Ÿ  Mr. Lester Tandwe (representing the Malawi 

Confederation Chamber of Commerce and 

Industry)

Ÿ  Rt. Rev. Dr. Joseph Bvumbwe (representing the fuel 

pricing authority)

Ÿ  The Secretary to Treasury

Ÿ  The Secretary for Economic Planning and 

Development

The Board is responsible for the overall control and 

management of the Roads Fund Administration, and 

it reports to the Minister of Finance, Economic 

Planning and Development.

The Board is assisted in its oversight functions by two 

Board Committees; the Finance and Audit 

Committee, and the Remuneration, Appointments, 

Disciplinary and Administration Committee.

BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The Roads Fund Administration is, by law required to 

meet at least once every two months. In the year 

under review, the board had complied fully with the 

provision, by meeting every two months.

In the year under review, the board had a total of six 

meetings and so did each committee.

The Committees met prior to and in preparation of 

every Board meeting.

GOVERNANCE 
ACTIVITIES
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
AS AT 30 JUNE 2018

Ms. Bernadette Mandoloma
Board Chairperson

Mr. Matthews Chikankheni
Vice Board Chairperson

Rt. Rev. Dr. Joseph Bvumbwe
Member

Mr. Lester Tandwe
Member

Mr. Stanley Chuthi
Member

Mr. Ben Botolo
Ex-Ofcio

Mr. Peter Simbani
Ex-Ofcio
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Stewart Malata
Chief Executive Ofcer

Alexander Makhwatha
Director of Finance

Ezra Dzoole
Company Secretary & 

Director of Administration

Francis Haiya
Director of Audit

2018 ANNUAL REPORT | 10

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The RFA Senior Management 

comprises the 
Chief Executive Ofcer and 
three departmental directors



The Income of the Roads Fund increased from 
K34.9 billion in the prior year to K37.8 billion in 
the current year, an increase of 8% mainly due to 
fuel levy which increased from K27.6 billion to 
K31.9 billion, an increase of 15.6%. This was as a 
result of an increase in volumes of Petrol and 
Diesel imported in the country in the year under 
review.

Expenditures in the year increased from K33.7 
billion in the prior year to K39.5 billion in the 
current year, an increase of 17.2%. Most of the 
expenditure was on Road works which increased 
from K27.4 billion in the prior year to K32.5 billion 
in the current year, an increase of 18.6%.  The 
Board of the Roads Fund Administration decided to 
fund City Councils of Blantyre, Lilongwe, Mzuzu 
and Zomba as road agencies in their own rights in 
line with the Roads Fund Administration Act so as 
to improve absorption of the resources. This is 
yielding positive results.

The Roads Fund registered a decit of K1.7 billion 
in the year.  This was a planned decit as more 
works were funded than the Income that was 
collected in the year so as to utilise accumulated 
reserves.  The reserves over the years have been 
accumulating as a result of lack of capacity of the 
construction industry to fully utilise the allocated 
resources annually.
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The Roads Fund Administration Act requires the directors to prepare nancial statements for each nancial 
year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Roads Fund as at the end of the nancial 
year and of the operating results for that year.

The Act also requires the directors to ensure that the Roads Fund keeps proper accounting records which 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the nancial position of the Roads Fund and enable them to 
ensure that the nancial statements comply with the Roads Fund Administration Act.

In preparing the nancial statements the directors accept responsibility for the following:

Ÿ Maintenance of proper accounting records;
Ÿ  Selection of suitable accounting policies and consistent application thereof;
Ÿ  Making judgements and estimates that are reasonable and consistently applied;
Ÿ  Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards, when preparing nancial statements; 

and
Ÿ  Preparation of nancial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that 

the Roads Fund will continue in business in the foreseeable future.

The directors also accept responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard 
the assets of the Roads Fund and to maintain adequate systems of internal control to prevent and detect 
fraud and other irregularities.
 
The directors are of the opinion that the nancial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the 
nancial affairs of the Roads Fund and of its operating results.

DIRECTOR : 

DIRECTOR : 

DATE   :    26th October, 2018

ROADS FUND 
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE YEAR ENDED
30 June 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS OF THE ROADS FUND 
ADMINISTRATION 

Opinion 
We have audited the nancial statements of Roads Fund set out on pages 16 to 43, which comprise the 
statement of nancial position as at 30 June 2018, and the statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in reserves and statement of cash ows for the year then ended, and the notes to the 
nancial statements, including a summary of signicant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the nancial statements give a true and fair view of the nancial position of the fund as at 
30 June 2018, and of its nancial performance and cash ows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and in the manner required by the Roads Fund 
Administration Act.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the fund in accordance with the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of nancial statements in Malawi. We have 
fullled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA code. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufcient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most signicance in our 
audit of the nancial statements of the current period. Any such matters are supposed to be addressed in 
the context of our audit of the nancial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  We did not identify any key audit matters in our 
audit of the nancial statements for the current year.

Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the annual 
report, which is expected to be made available to us after the date of our audit report and the statement of 
directors responsibilities which was made available to us before the date of our audit report. The other 
information does not include the nancial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the nancial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an 
audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the nancial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the  nancial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor's report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard.



Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements 
The directors are responsible for the preparation of nancial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Roads Fund 
Administration Act and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of nancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the nancial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the fund's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the fund or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the nancial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to inuence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these nancial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
Ÿ  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the nancial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufcient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control; 

Ÿ  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the fund's internal control; 

Ÿ  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors;

Ÿ  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast signicant doubt on the fund's ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to 
the related disclosures in the nancial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the fund to cease to continue as a going 
concern; and

Ÿ  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the nancial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the nancial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and signicant audit ndings, including any signicant deciencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 

Deloitte
Chartered Accountants 
Vilengo Beza
Partner
31st October, 2018
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ROADS FUND
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2018

          Notes 2018 2017
           K'000 K'000
  
ASSETS
Receivables       5 12 601 471 6 160 858 
Investments       6 18 920 497 16 185 784 
Cash and bank balances     7    4 673 039    5 101 208          

TOTAL ASSETS           36 195 007  27 447 850             

RESERVES AND LIABILITIES

RESERVES

Accumulated surplus        17 852 300  19 595 301         

LIABILITIES

Non current liabilities

NBS Bank Bond       8   1 584 265                  -

Current Liabilities
Payables        9 7 380 253    5 263 118               
Other payables       10 7 091 963    1 225 048 
Taxes payable       11         2 286 226      1 364 383    

Total liabilities        16 758 442          7 852 549  

  
TOTAL RESERVES AND LIABILITIES          36 195 007   27 447 850

The nancial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26th 
October, 2018 and were signed on its behalf by:

………………………………..     .................................................
Director       Director
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ROADS FUND
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2018

          Notes 2018 2017
           K'000 K'000
  
INCOME

Fuel levy         31 850 724 27 574 259  
Road user charges                                      3 708 602 3 651 739 
Interest income                                                                    2 123 254 3 408 582 
Sundry income       12       121 805         224 425     

Total income         37 804 385    34 859 005     

EXPENDITURE

Road works expenditure     13 32 459 789  27 446 538
Roads Authority funding     14 3 125 000 2 744 640  
Roads Fund Administration funding    14 1 242 875 1 151 662 
Provision for doubtful receivables     129 527 -
Road Trafc & Safety programmes      507 952 465 336
Street Lighting Project        363 707 722 776 
Road Tolling Expenses        302 125 186 419 
IGPWP Community Roads      1 120 658 733 596 
Road user charges - commissions      183 918 180 560
Road Fund Bond Costs       107 500 10 000 
Bank charges and other expenses                4 335      10 944     

Total expenditure            39 547 386    33 652 471     

(DEFICIT)/SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR       (1 743 001)     1 206 534
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ROADS FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN RESERVES
For the year ended 30 June 2018

            Accumulated
                                 surplus
            K'000

Year ended 30 June 2018

Balance as at 1 July 2017       19 595 301   
Decit for the year        (1 743 001) 

Balance as at 30 June 2018       17 852 300
 

Year ended 30 June 2017

Balance as at 1 July 2016       18 388 767    
Surplus for the year              1 206 534    

Balance as at 30 June 2017                   19 595 301 
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ROADS FUND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2018

          Notes 2018 2017
           K'000 K'000
  
Cash ows from operating activities

(Decit)/surplus for the year      (1 743 001) 1 206 534
Adjustments for:
- Interest receivable       (2 123 254) (3 408 582)
- Increase in payables (including other payables and taxes payable)  8 905 893 2 897 354
- Increase in receivables        (6 440 613)  (822 973)

Net cash used in operating activities       (1 400 975)  (127 667)
     
Cash ows from investing activities
 
Interest received          2 123 254  3 408 582
 
Net cash generated by investing activities       2 123 254    3 408 582  

Cash ows from nancing activities
 
Bond facility           1 584 265                  -
 
Net cash generated by nancing activities       1 584 265                  -

Increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year    2 306 544 3 280 915 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   21 286 992  18 006 077

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year    23 593 536  21 286 992  

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Investments        6 18 920 497 16 185 784
Bank and cash balances     7      4 673 039    5 101 208

             23 593 536  21 286 992
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ROADS FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2018

1. General information

The Roads Fund was set up under the Roads Fund Administration Act No. 4 of 2006. The principal 
purpose of the Roads Fund according to Section 19 of the Act is to nance:

Ÿ  The maintenance and rehabilitation of public roads and surveys and monitoring related to such 
maintenance and rehabilitation of public roads;

Ÿ  On cost sharing basis, routine and periodic maintenance of roads, tracks and trails under the 
responsibility of a City, Town, Municipal or District Assembly, as the case may be, for the purposes of 
the Act; and

Ÿ  Emergency works on public roads a provision for which shall be made in the annual budget of the 
Roads Fund Administration. 

The Roads Fund is administered and managed by the Roads Fund Administration. The address of the 
Roads Fund Administration's principal place of business is Roads Fund Administration Head Ofce, 
Ngerengere Complex, Off Mchinji Road, Private Bag 369, Lilongwe 3.

2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards

2.1 Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported and/or disclosed in the nancial 
  statements

In the current year, the company has adopted those new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee of the International Accounting Standards Board that are relevant to its operations and are 
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on 1 April 2017.

The adoption of these new and revised Standards and Interpretations did not have a signicant impact on 
the nancial statements of the company. 

2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual p eriods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, and have not been applied in preparing these  nancial statements. 
Those which may be relevant to the company are set out below. The company does not plan to adopt 
these standards early. These will be adopted in the period that they become m andatory unless otherwise 
indicated:
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ROADS FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2018

2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective (Continued)

Effective date
Annual periods 
beginning on or after 
1 January 2018

Standard, Amendment or Interpretation
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9, issued in November 2009, introduced new requirements for the classication 
and measurement of nancial assets.  IFRS 9 was subsequently amended in October 
2010 to include requirements for the classication and measurement of nancial 
liabilities and for derecognition, and in November 2013 to include the new 
requirements for general hedge accounting.  Another revised version of IFRS 9 was 
issued in July 2014 mainly to include impairment requirements for nancial assets 
and limited amendments to the classication and measurement requirements by 
introducing a 'fair value through other comprehensive income' (FVTOCI) 
measurement category for certain simple debt instruments.

Key requirements of IFRS 9:
Ÿ  All recognised nancial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to 

be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value.  Specically, debt 
investments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the 
contractual cash ows, and that have contractual cash ows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally 
measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods.  Debt 
instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is achieved 
both by collecting contractual cash ows and selling nancial assets, and that 
have contractual terms that give rise on specied dates to cash ows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are 
generally measured at FVTOCI.  All other debt investments and equity investments 
are measured at their fair value at the end of subsequent accounting periods.  In 
addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present 
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for 
trading nor contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business 
combination) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally 
recognized in prot or loss;

Ÿ  With regard to the measurement of measurement of nancial liabilities designated 
as at fair value through prot or loss, IFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in 
the fair value of a nancial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk 
of that liability is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition 
of such changes In other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an 
accounting mismatch in prot or loss.  Changes in fair value attributable to a 
nancial liability's credit risk are not subsequently reclassied to prot or loss.  
Changes in fair value attributable to nancial liability's credit risk are not 
subsequently reclassied to prot or loss.  Under IAS 39, the entire amount of the 
change in the fair value of the nancial liability designated as fair value through 
prot or loss is presented in prot or loss;

Ÿ In relation to the impairment of nancial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit 
loss model, as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39.  The 
expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses each reporting 
date to reect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.  In other words, it is 
no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are 
recognised; and
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2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective (Continued)

Effective date
Annual periods 
beginning on or after 
1 January 2018

Standard, Amendment or Interpretation (Continued)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Ÿ The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge 
accounting mechanics currently available in IAS 39.  Under IFRS 9, greater 
exibility has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge 
accounting, specically broadening the types of instruments that qualify for 
hedging instruments and the types of risk components of non-nancial items that 
are eligible for hedge accounting.  In addition, the effectiveness test has been 
overhauled and replaced with the principle of an “economic relationship'.  
Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required.  
Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity's risk management activities 
have also been introduced.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 species how and when an entity will recognise revenue as well as requiring 
such entities to provide users of nancial statements with more informative, relevant 
disclosures.  

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity will recognise revenue to depict the 
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 
services. Specically, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue 
recognition:

Ÿ  Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer;
Ÿ  Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract;
Ÿ  Step 3: Determine the transaction price;
Ÿ  Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the 

contract; and
Ÿ  Step 5: Recognise Revenue when (or as) the entity satises a performance 

obligation.

Under IFRS15, an entity recognises Revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is 
transferred to the customer.

Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with specic 
scenarios.  Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 15.

In April 2016, the IASB issued Classications to IFRS 15 in relation to the 
identication of performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations, as 
well as licensing application guidance.
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2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective (Continued)

Effective date
Annual periods 
beginning on or after 
1 January 2019

Effective date
Annual reporting 
periods beginning 
on or after 
1 January 2021

Effective date
Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 
1 January 2018

Standard, Amendment or Interpretation (Continued)
IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identication of lease 
arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will 
supersede the current lease guide including IAS 17 Leases and the related 
interpretations when it becomes effective.

IFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on the basis of whether an 
identied asset is controlled by a customer. Distinctions of operating leases (off 
balance sheet) and nance leases (on balance sheet) are removed for lessee 
accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset and 
corresponding liability have to be recognized for all leases by lessees (i.e. all on 
balance sheet) except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost 
(subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 
adjusted for any re-measurement of the lease liability.  The lease liability is initially 
measured at present value of the lease payments that are aid at that date.  
Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as 
the impact of lease modications, amongst others.  Furthermore, the classication of 
cash ows will also be affected as operating lease payments under IAS 17 are 
presented as operating cash ows; whereas under the IFRS 16 model, the lease 
payments will be split into a principal and an interest portion that will be presented as 
nancing and operating cash ows respectively.

In contracts to lessee accounting, IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor 
accounting requirements in IAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a 
lease either as an operating lease or a nance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 16.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

IFRS 17 requires insurance liabilities to be measured at a current fullment value and 
provides a more uniform measurement and presentation approach for all insurance 
contracts. These requirements are designed to achieve the goal of a consistent, 
principle-based accounting for insurance contracts. IFRS 17 supersedes IFRS 4 
Insurance Contracts as of 1 January 2021.

Classication and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions

Amends IFRS 2 Share-based Payment to clarify the standard in relation to the 
accounting for cash-settled share-based payment transactions that include a 
performance condition, the classication of share-based payment transactions with 
net settlement features, and the accounting for modications of share-based payment 
transactions from cash-settled to equity-settled.
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2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective (Continued)

Effective date
The amendments 
to IFRS 1 and 
IAS 28 are 
effective for annual 
periods beginning 
on or after 
1 January 2018

Annual reporting 
periods beginning 
on or after 1 
January 2018

Annual reporting 
periods beginning 
on or after 1 
January 2019

Annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 
January 2019

Standard, Amendment or Interpretation (Continued)
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014–2016 Cycle

Makes amendments to the following standards:

Ÿ  IFRS 1 - Deletes the short-term exemptions in paragraphs E3–E7 of IFRS 1, 
because they have now served their intended purpose; and

Ÿ IAS 28 - Claries that the election to measure at fair value through prot or loss 
an investment in an associate or a joint venture that is held by an entity that is a 
venture capital organisation, or other qualifying entity, is available for each 
investment in an associate or joint venture on an investment-by-investment basis, 
upon initial recognition.

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The interpretation addresses foreign currency transactions or parts of transactions 
where:

Ÿ  there is consideration that is denominated or priced in a foreign currency; 
Ÿ  the entity recognises a prepayment asset or a deferred income liability in respect 

of that consideration, in advance of the recognition of the related asset, expense 
or income; and 

Ÿ  the prepayment asset or deferred income liability is non-monetary.

The Interpretations Committee came to the following conclusion:

Ÿ  The date of the transaction, for the purpose of determining the exchange rate, is 
the date of initial recognition of the non-monetary prepayment asset or deferred 
income liability; and 

Ÿ  If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, a date of transaction is 
established for each payment or receipt.

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

The interpretation addresses the determination of taxable prot (tax loss), tax bases, 
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over 
income tax treatments under IAS 12. It specically considers:
Ÿ  Whether tax treatments should be considered collectively;
Ÿ  Assumptions for taxation authorities' examinations;
Ÿ  The determination of taxable prot (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused 

tax credits and tax rates; and
Ÿ   The effect of changes in facts and circumstances.

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to IFRS 9)
Amends the existing requirements in IFRS 9 regarding termination rights in order to allow 
measurement at amortised cost (or, depending on the business model, at fair value 
through other comprehensive income) even in the case of negative compensation 
payments.
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2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective (Continued)

Effective date
Annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 
January 2019

Standard, Amendment or Interpretation (Continued)
Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to IAS 28)

Claries that an entity applies IFRS 9 Financial Instruments to long-term interests in 
an associate or joint venture that form part of the net investment in the associate or 
joint venture but to which the equity method is not applied.

The directors anticipate that other than IFRS 9, IFRS 15 and IFRS 16 these Standards and Interpretations in 
future periods will have no signicant impact on the nancial statements of the company. IFRS 9 will 
impact the measurement of nancial instruments, IFRS 15 will affect recognition of revenue and IFRS 16 
will impact recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosures of leases. The directors are unable to 
quantify the impact that adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have on the 
nancial statements.

3. Signicant accounting policies

Statement of compliance
The nancial statements have been drawn up in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards. 
 
Basis of preparation
These nancial statements are prepared in terms of the historical cost convention. Historical cost is 
generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange of assets.

The principal accounting policies of the Roads Fund, which are set out below, have been consistently 
followed in all material respects.

3.1 Financial instruments
  
Financial assets and nancial liabilities are recognised on the Roads Fund's statement of nancial p osition 
when the Roads Fund becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Roads Fund 
classies its nancial assets in the following categories: nancial assets at fair value through prot or loss; 
loans and receivables; held-to-maturity investments.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classied into the following specied categories: Financial assets 'at fair value through 
prot or loss (FVTPL), 'held-to-maturity investments', available for sale (AFS) nancial assets and 'loans and 
receivables'. The classication depends on the nature and purpose of the nancial assets and is 
determined at the time of initial recognition.

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have xed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market are classied as 'loans and receivables'. Loans and receivables are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. 
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3. Signicant accounting policies (Continued)
3.1 Financial instruments (Continued)

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables where 
the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Held -to- maturity investments
Bills of exchange and debentures with xed or determinable payments and xed maturity dates that the 
fund has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classied as held-to-maturity investments. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are recorded at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method less any impairment.

Financial assets are classied as at FVTPL when the nancial asset is either held for trading or it is 
designated as at FVTPL.

A nancial asset is classied as held for trading if:
Ÿ  it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or
Ÿ  on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identied nancial instruments that the fund manages 

together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term prot-taking; or 
Ÿ  it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument. 
Ÿ A nancial asset other than a nancial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon 

initial recognition if:
Ÿ  such designation eliminates or signicantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that 

would otherwise arise; or 
Ÿ  the nancial asset forms part of a group of nancial assets or nancial liabilities or both, which is 

managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the fund's 
documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided 
internally on that basis; or 

Ÿ It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to 
be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement 
recognised in statement of comprehensive income. The net gain or loss recognised in statement of 
comprehensive income incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the nancial asset and is included 
in the 'other gains and losses' line item. 

AFS nancial assets
AFS nancial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as AFS or are not classied as (a) loans 
and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) nancial assets at fair value through prot or loss.

Changes in the carrying amount of AFS monetary nancial assets relating to changes in foreign currency 
rates, interest income calculated using the effective interest method and dividends on AFS equity 
investments are recognised in prot or loss. Other changes in the carrying amount of available-for-sale 
nancial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of 
investments revaluation reserve. When the Investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is reclassied to 
prot or loss.
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3.1 Financial instruments (Continued)

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in prot or loss when the fund's right to receive t he 
dividends is established.

The fair value of AFS monetary nancial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period. The foreign 
exchange gains and losses that are recognised in prot or loss are determined based on the amortised 
cost of the monetary asset. Other foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value 
cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such 
unquoted equity investments are measured at cost less any identied impairment losses at the end of each 
reporting period.

Impairment of nancial assets
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as 
a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the nancial asset, the 
estimated future cash ows of the investment have been affected, for all other nancial assets, objective 
evidence of impairment could include:

Ÿ signicant nancial difculty of the issuer or counterparty; or
Ÿ breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; 
Ÿ it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or nancial re-organisation; or
Ÿ the disappearance of an active market for that nancial asset because of nancial difculties.

For certain categories of nancial assets, such as trade receivables, assets are assessed for impairment on 
a collective basis even if they were assessed not to be impaired individually. Objective evidence of 
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the fund's past experience of collecting payments, 
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period of 90 days, 
as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on 
receivables.

For nancial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the 
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash ows, 
discounted at the nancial asset's original effective interest rate.

For nancial assets that are carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash ows 
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar nancial asset. Such impairment loss will not 
be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the nancial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all nancial assets 
with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account. 
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3.1 Financial instruments (Continued)

When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. 
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in prot or loss.

When an AFS nancial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassied to prot or loss in the period.

For nancial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through prot or loss to the extent that 
the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the 
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised in prot or loss are not 
reversed through prot or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of investments revaluation reserve. In 
respect of AFS debt securities, impairment losses are subsequently reversed through prot or loss if an 
increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the 
recognition of the impairment loss.
 
Derecognition of nancial assets
The fund derecognises a nancial asset when the contractual rights to the cash ows from the asset expire, 
or when it transfers the nancial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 
to another party. If the fund neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the fund recognises its retained interest in the 
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.  If the fund retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred nancial asset, the fund continues to recognise the 
nancial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a nancial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and 
the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in prot or loss.

On derecognition of a nancial asset other than in its entirety, the fund allocates the previous carrying 
amount of the nancial asset between the part it continues to recognise under continuing involvement, and 
the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the 
transfer. 

The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum 
of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated 
to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in prot or loss.

A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated between 
the part that continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the 
relative fair values of those parts.
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3. Signicant accounting policies (Continued)
3.1 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments 

Classication as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classied as either nancial liabilities or as equity in accordance with 
substance of the contractual arrangements and the denitions of a nancial liability and equity 
instruments.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classied as either nancial liabilities at 'FVTPL' or 'other nancial liabilities'.

Financial liabilities are classied as at FVTPL where the nancial liability is either held for trading or it is 
designated as at FVTPL.

A nancial liability is classied as held for trading if:

Ÿ it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term; or 
Ÿ on initial recognition, it is a part of an identied portfolio of nancial instruments that the fund 

manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term prot-taking; or
Ÿ it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A nancial liability other than a nancial liability held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon 
initial recognition if:

Ÿ such designation eliminates or signicantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that 
would otherwise arise; or

Ÿ the nancial liability forms part of a group of nancial assets or nancial liabilities or both, which is 
managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the fund's 
documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided 
internally on that basis; or

Ÿ it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to 
be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in prot or 
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in prot or loss incorporates any interest paid on the nancial liability 
and is included in other gains and losses line item. 

Other nancial liabilities
Other nancial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction 
costs.
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3. Signicant accounting policies (Continued)
3.1 Financial instruments (Continued)

Other nancial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a nancial liability and of 
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the nancial liability, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Derecognition of nancial liabilities 
The fund derecognises nancial liabilities when, and only when, the fund's obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the nancial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in prot or loss.

3.2 Foreign currencies

The results and nancial position of the Roads Fund are expressed in Malawi Kwacha, which is the  
functional currency of the Roads Fund, and the presentation currency for the nancial statements.

In preparing the nancial statements of the Roads Fund, transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at 
the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, 
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the reporting 
date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement and retranslation of monetary items are included in the 
statement of comprehensive income for the period.

3.3 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Roads Fund has a present obligation (constructive or legal) as a result 
of a past event, and it is probable that the Fund will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the statement of nancial position date. Where a provision is measured using the 
cash ows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash 
ows.

When some or all of the economic benets required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will 
be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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3. Signicant accounting policies (Continued)

3.4 Income

Income for the Roads Fund principally comprises of fuel levy and road user charges.

Fuel levy income is recognised on importation of fuel into the country.

Road user charges income principally comprises international transit fees levied on foreign road users and 
income is recognised at the point of entry into the roads of Malawi.

All income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

Receipts from the Malawi Government and others of a revenue nature are recognised as income of the 
Roads Fund in the year in which they are received, unless such funding is intended to be matched against 
specic future expenditures, in which case it is recognised as income on a matching basis as such 
expenditure is incurred.

Interest income is accrued and taken to income on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding 
and the interest rate applicable.

3.5 Taxation

Under the First Schedule of the Taxation Act, the Roads Fund is exempt from income tax.

3.6 Bank and cash balances

Bank and cash balances comprise cash on hand and bank balances and are subject to an insignicant 
risk of changes in value.

4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

4.1 Critical judgements in applying the accounting policies
  
No critical judgements were made by management during the current period which would have a 
material impact on the nancial statements.

4.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
 
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date, that have a signicant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next nancial year, are discussed below.
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4.2.1 Provision for doubtful receivables
   
As detailed in note 5 to the nancial statements, a provision of K129.5 million has been made in the 
current year relating to National Oil Company of Malawi (NOCMA) levy and maintained the provision 
relating to Edkom levy receivable (2017: K15.8 million). The provision has been made due to the 
uncertainty over recoverability of the fuel levy receivable amount and the provision has been estimated 
taking into account the prevailing economic factors such as interest rates as at year end. The actual 
outcome in future may be different.

           2018 2017
           K'000 K'000

5. Receivables

Fuel levy receivable       10 040 603 5 763 616 
Mobilisation advances       2 125 908 390 711 
Other receivables       580 274 22 318 
Provision for doubtful receivables          (145 314)        (15 787) 
        
Total receivables        12 601 471 6 160 858  

The fuel levy receivable amount is due from various petroleum importers through the Malawi Energy  
Regulatory Authority. The amount is supposed to be receivable within 52 days of importation of fuel into 
the country. The amount does not earn any interest. 
 
           2018 2017
           K'000 K'000

Ageing of fuel levy receivable
Current         2 592 845 2 606 882  
30-60 days        4 452 346 2 173 231    
60-90 days        996 784 769 305      
90-120 days        798 757 146 708    
120 days +          1 199 871          67 490     
        
Total          10 040 603     5 763 616            

As at 30 June 2018, fuel levy receivable which was past due but not yet received amounted to K2,995 
million (2017:  K983.5 million). 

           2018 2017
Movement in provision for doubtful receivables   K'000 K'000

Balance at the beginning of the year      15 787 15 787
Amounts added in the year              129 527                -

Balance at the end of the year            145 314       15 787   
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Mobilisation advances relate to amounts paid to contractors in advance to facilitate initial works set up.  
The amounts are spread over a large number of contractors and are recoverable on settlement of works 
certicates. The advances do not earn any interest.

           2018 2017
           K'000 K'000

6. Investments

Call deposits  
   
National Bank of Malawi plc      954 858 788 209
FDH Bank        93 078 195 032
First Merchant Bank              187 969          96 838

Total call deposits          1 235 905    1 080 079

 
Fixed deposits        2018 2017
           K'000 K'000 

National Bank of Malawi plc      - 1 343 343
FDH Bank Limited       1 065 208 1 239 403
Ecobank Malawi       - 708 376
LFC Ltd         537 782 410 962
Nedbank        2 107 727 1 311 826
New Finance Bank       1 083 140 1 075 870
Nico Asset Ltd        2 637 205 2 707 430
Alliance Capital Limited      1 089 288 300 567
CDH Investment Bank Limited      1 318 504 -
NBS Bank plc – Escrow Account for Bond Repayments  1 085 749 -
Old Mutual Limited       2 990 719 3 300 868 
National Bank Capital Markets        3 769 270  2 707 060

Total xed deposits          17 684 592    15 105 705

Total investments         18 920 497     16 185 784

Investments are in respect of amounts placed on call accounts and earn interest at annual interest rates 
of between 5% and 9% (2017 : 6.5% and 14%), while xed deposits earn interest rates at annual interest 
rates of between 11% to 22%  (2017 : 18% to 25% ). Included in investments are compensation funds 
K623.4 million (2017: K292.7 million); Government payables managed on behalf of the Government of 
Malawi K60.6 million (2017: K84.6 million), Rail Fund K6,260 million (2017: K677.9 million), Tourism 
Fund K132.9 million (2017: K169.7 million), and Mpemba Staff Development K15.0 million (2017: Nil) 
as detailed in note 9 to the nancial statements.
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           2018 2017
           K'000 K'000

7. Cash and bank balances

Local currency denominated balances:
National Bank of Malawi plc      1 865 471 35 397
Standard Bank Malawi plc      2 748 2 972                 
NBS Bank plc               30 839                     841 

Total local currency denominated balances        1 899 058        39 210 

United States Dollar denominated balances:
NBS Bank plc        2 149 228 1 332 240 
Standard Bank Malawi plc      142 808 339 620
National Bank of Malawi plc      377 565 1 781 990
FDH Bank Limited       104 271 868 887
CDH Investment Bank Limited      - 739 153
Petty cash                     109              108

Total United States Dollar denominated balances        2 773 981      5 061 998            
 
Total cash and bank balances          4 673 039        5 101 208

The bank and cash balances are available on demand. The local currency balances earn interest at 
annual rates of up to 5.0% (2017: 5.25%) while the United States Dollar denominated balances earn 
interest at annual interest rates of between 0.5% and 3.0% (2017: 0.5% and 2.75%).

8. NBS Bank Bond 

2018
                                                      Opening   Closing
        balance Additions Repaid balance 
                                                                K'000 K'000 K'000 K'000

K7 Billion NBS Bank Bond                  -        1 584 265                -  1 584 265
  
Total                        -     1 584 265               -  1 584 265

The Fund obtained a bond of K7 billion from NBS bank during the year to nance the rehabilitation of a 
dual carriage on the road between parliament roundabout and Bingu National Stadium in Lilongwe. The 
principal amount is amortised quarterly over the tenor of the facility (60 months starting from January 
2018). Coupon interest is payable quarterly at a oating rate of 91 days Treasury bill plus 1.75%. The 
bond is secured over the Fund's fuel levy proceeds, written guarantee from Malawi government that there 
will be no change in policy or law such as may in any way impair fuel levies. The amount drawn and 
outstanding at year-end was K1.6 billion.
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           2018 2017
           K'000 K'000

9. Payables

Accrued contract expenses      4 705 322 4 154 511
Retentions payable       1 392 628 799 826
Other accrued expenses                                         1 206 921 240 660
National Construction Industry Council levy                           75 382        68 121
  
Total payables                  7 380 253    5 263 118

Accrued contract expenses relate to value for works done up to year- end for which payment had not yet 
been made and/or certicates had not yet been received as at year-end. The amounts cover a large 
number of contracts and do not attract any interest.

Retentions payable relate to amounts withheld from payments to contractors to cater for any road works 
defects that may be noted within the defects period. These amounts do not attract any interest and are 
released when the defects period lapses. On average, the defects periods are for a maximum of 12 
months. 

The Roads Fund has an arrangement with the National Construction Industry Council (NCIC) to collect 
NCIC levy on its behalf from contractors and consultants at the time of making payments for contractors' 
certicates and consultants' invoices. 

Other accruals comprise of accrued community road maintenance wages of K112.4 million (2017:  
K182.8 million); 5% commission payable to MRA for the collection of international transit fees for quarter 
April to June accrued of K50.2 million (2017: K44 million); accrued feasibility study fees on introduction of 
tolling in Malawi of K287.7 million (2017: K13.9). The accruals do not attract any interest.

10. Other payables 

                                                         Opening   Closing
        balance Additions Disbursed balance 
                                                             K'000  K'000 K'000 K'000

2018
Malawi Government Advances    84 563 504 857 (528 856) 60 564
Rail Fund     677 944 7 681 919 (2 099 815) 6 260 048
Ministry of Tourism    169 659         135 675 (172 459) 132 875
Mpemba Staff Development    - 71 044 (56 067) 14 977
Road Compensation     292 743 2 146 143 (1 815 526) 623 360
Ministry of Lands                            139                  -                    -            139
 
Total                       1 225 048     10 539 638     (4 672 723)  7 091 963
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10. Other payables (Continued)
                                                             Opening   Closing
        balance Additions Disbursed balance 
                                                             K'000  K'000 K'000 K'000

2017 
Malawi Government Advances  106 353 10 902 (32 692) 84 563
Rail Fund      - 739 293 (61 349) 677 944
Ministry of Tourism         4 491 165 168 - 169 659
Road Compensation     263 912 902 822 (873 991) 292 743
Ministry of Lands                         139                   -                  -               139
 
Total             374 895       1 818 185     (968 032)     1 225 048
 

The advances from Government relate to funds received from Government for payments to third parties 
on various road infrastructure development projects. 

The Roads Fund Administration manages funds on behalf of the Ministry of Tourism for the upgrading of 
the lake resorts access roads in Salima. 

The Roads Fund Administration also manages funds on behalf of the Ministry of Lands for the construction 
of access roads in Areas 43 and 46 in Lilongwe. 

The Roads Fund Administration also manages the Rail Fund on behalf of the Ministry of Transport for the 
maintenance of the railways in Malawi. 

The Roads Fund Administration also manages compensation funds on behalf of Malawi Government 
meant for people whose properties are affected when new roads are being constructed. 

No interest is charged on these amounts.

           2018 2017
           K'000 K'000

11. Taxes payable   

Value Added Tax       1 659 373 1 088 452
Withholding tax payable              626 853        275 931
  
Total taxes payable                 2 286 226     1 364 383  
   
The Roads Fund Administration has an arrangement with the Malawi Revenue Authority to collect Value 
Added Tax on its behalf from contractors and consultants at the time of making payments for contractors' 
certicates and consultants' invoices.

The taxes payable represent taxes already collected but not yet remitted to the MRA.
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           2018 2017
           K'000 K'000

12. Sundry income   

Other income         55 630 137 519
Liquidated damages               66 175       86 906
   
Total sundry income             121 805     224 425 
 
Other income is mainly made up of exchange gains on foreign currency denominated balances as at 
year end.

           2018 2017
           K'000 K'000

13. Road works expenditure

Rehabilitation        7 119 193 12 466 866
Rehabilitation - Parliament to Bingu National Stadium  2 395 721 -
City Road Rehabilitation Programme - Blantyre   1 461 005 2 142 107
City Road Rehabilitation Programme -  Lilongwe   823 330 1 504 359
City Road Rehabilitation Programme - Mzuzu    2 134 132 1 472 172
City Road Rehabilitation Programme -  Zomba   2 276 037 379 690
Routine maintenance       2 999 342 860 747
Pothole patching       1 741 406 1 524 196
Spot repairs        1 159 268 1 152 207
Road signs and markings                                                                 835 188 497 206
Grading and reshaping                                                                  2 653 424 1 179 800
Supervision        1 256 488 1 098 487
Bridge construction       2 224 461 1 463 763
Planning, design and studies      503 959 189 394
Emergency works       2 587 801 1 234 261
Grass cutting             289 034       281 283
   
Total road works expenditure     32 459 789 27 446 538

14. Funding of Roads Authority and Roads Fund Administration

The Roads Authority and the Roads Fund Administration are entitled to receive funding from the Roads 
Fund in accordance with Section 17(1) of the Roads Authority Act and Section 21(1) of the Roads Fund 
Administration Act, respectively. The amounts in the statement of comprehensive income represent the 
funding made by the Roads Fund during the year in accordance with these requirements.

The funding made to Roads Fund Administration for the year was K1,242.9 million (2017: K1 151.7 
million) while the funding to the Roads Authority was K3,125 million (2017: K2 744.6 million).
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15. Related parties

Related parties mainly comprise the Malawi Government and its statutory organisations, the Roads Fund 
Administration and the Roads Authority and their respective directors and senior members of management 
and persons closely associated with them including immediate family members. 

Transactions involving related parties are conducted at arm's length. Transactions and balances with 
related parties were as follows at year end:

                                                                                                         Amount owed to related parties
               2018               2017
                                                       K'000     K'000
 
2018
Malawi Government advances                      60 564 84 563
Malawi Government - compensation payments   623 360 292 743
Ministry of Tourism advance                              132 875 169 659
Ministry of Transport - Rail Fund     6 260 048 677 944
Mpemba Staff Development      14 977 -
Ministry of Lands       139 139
Malawi Revenue Authority                        2 286 226    1 364 384
      
Total payable (per note 10 and 11)          9 378 189    2 589 432  

Related party receivables are as per note 5.

As managers of the Roads Fund, the Roads Fund Administration and the Roads Fund have a related party 
relationship.  Accordingly, the nancial statements for the Roads Fund Administration and these nancial 
statements should be considered together for related party relationship purposes.

All related party transactions during the year with the Roads Authority, Roads Fund Administration, 
Directorate of Road Trafc and Safety Services, National Construction Industry Council and the Malawi 
Revenue Authority are disclosed in the statement of comprehensive income.

16. Commitments
 
The Roads Fund Administration entered into Financing Agreements with the Roads Authority and the four 
City Councils of Blantyre, Lilongwe, Mzuzu and Zomba to nance the rehabilitation and maintenance of 
public roads with funds from the Roads Fund.

Some of the contracts entered into by the Roads Authority and the Councils were in progress as at year-
end. The Roads Fund was accordingly committed to an amount of K16,396 million (2017: K6,523 million) 
in respect of such rehabilitation, maintenance and supervision contracts.

The Roads Fund Administration also entered into Financing Agreements with other implementing agencies 
like the Directorate of Road Trafc and Safety Services for the construction of a weighbridge in Nkhotakota 
and as at the end of the year K206.5 million (2017: K184.7 million) was committed; Commitment 
towards procurement of concrete culverts for Community Road Maintenance of K389.0 million (2017: 
K184.7 million) 
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17. Financial instruments and associated risks

17.1 Categories of nancial instruments

The analysis below sets out the Roads Fund's classication of nancial assets and liabilities and their values 
as included in the statement of nancial position.

          Notes 2018 2017
           K'000 K'000

Financial assets
 
Receivables                  5   12 601 471  6 160 858
Held to maturity investments     6 18 920 497 16 185 784
Cash and cash equivalents                       7          4 673 039      5 101 208
               
Total nancial assets                  36 195 007    27 447 850

Financial liabilities
NBS Bank Bond Facility     8 1 584 265 -
Payables                   9   7 380 253 5 263 118
Other payables                                     10   7 091 963 1 225 048
Taxes payable        11           2 286 226     1 364 383    

Total nancial liabilities           18 342 707 7 852 549

17.2 Interest rate risk management

The Roads Fund is exposed to interest rate risk as it holds a signicant portion of its assets in interest-
bearing investments. The risk is managed by maintaining an appropriate mix of oating and xed rate 
investments as detailed below:
                                           Less to     
                                                                    1 month Total
           K'000 K'000
   
2018
Assets
Term deposit         18 920 497 18 920 497
Current accounts                              4 673 039      4 673 039 
 
Total              23 593 536    23 593 536     
                                     
2017
Assets
Term deposit         16 185 874 16 185 874                        
Current accounts                              5 101 208      5 101 208  

Total              21 287 082     21 287 082
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17.3 Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in nancial 
loss to the Roads Fund. The Roads Fund deals with creditworthy counterparties and obtains sufcient 
collateral where appropriate as a means of mitigating the risk of nancial loss from defaults. The Fund's 
gross exposure is in respect of balances as detailed in notes 5, 6, 7 and 8 to the nancial statements. As 
detailed in note 5 to the nancial statements, a provision of K15.8 million has been maintained and 
mainly relating to fuel levy receivable (2017: K15.8 million). No further provisions are made against any 
of these balances.

17.4 Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk arises where the operations of Roads Fund cannot be funded due to mismatches in the cash 
ows of assets and liabilities within the balance sheet. 

Liquidity risk management
Roads Fund manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate liquid assets and continuously monitoring 
forecast and actual cash ows and matching the maturity proles of nancial assets and liabilities.

                                  Up to 1-3 3-12 Over 
                                              1 month months months 1 period Total
                                               K'000         K'000 K'000       K'000   K'000

30 June 2018
Assets 
Bank and cash balances        
including term deposit    23 593 536 - - - 23 593 536
Other receivables              12 601 471                -                 -                   -    12 601 471

Total assets                        36 195 007                -                -                  -    36 195 007

Liabilities
Accrued expenses       5 990 170 -  8 482 046 1 584 265 16 056 481
Taxes payable          2 286 226                -                 -                 -     2 286 226

Total liabilities        8 276 396                   -  8 482 046  1 584 265   18 342 707

30 June 2017
Assets 
Bank and cash balances        
including term deposit   21 286 992 - - - 21 286 992
Other receivables                   6 160 858                 -                 -                   -      6 160 858

Total assets                        27 447 850                -                -                  -    27 447 850

Liabilities
Accrued expenses      4 463 292 - 2 024 874 - 6 488 166
Taxes payable           1 364 383                -                 -                 -     1 364 383

Total liabilities                 5 827 675                 -     2 024 874                  -      7 852 549
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17.5 Foreign currency risk management

Roads Fund undertakes certain transactions especially income from road users denominated in foreign 
currencies and also holds certain bank deposits in United States Dollars for road user charges. Hence, 
exposures to exchange rate uctuations arise. However, the level of transactions in foreign currencies is 
currently low. 

Roads Fund mitigates the risk through forward exchange contract with the local commercial banks. 

Roads Fund had the following foreign currency position:
           2018 2017
                    K'000 K'000 

Assets   
United States Dollar Denominated accounts       2 773 981    5 061 998 

18. Fair value measurements

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement establishes a single source of guidance  for fair value measurement and 
disclosure  and this apply to both nancial and non-nancial instruments items which either IFRS require 
or permit fair value measurements except  for share based payments that are within the scope of  IFRS 2 
Share-Based Payment leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17 Leases and other 
measurements that have similarities to fair value but are not fair value such Net Realisable Value for 
measuring of inventories and value in use for impairment assessment purposes.

This note provides information about how the entity determines fair values of various nancial assets and 
nancial liabilities.

18.1 Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value

Management considers that the carrying amounts of nancial assets and nancial liabilities recognised at 
amortised cost in the nancial statements approximate their fair values

The fair values of nancial assets and nancial liabilities are determined as follows: 

Ÿ The fair values of other nancial assets and nancial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are 
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash ow 
analysis using prices from observable current market transactions and dealer quotes for similar 
instruments. 

18.2 Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of nancial position

The following table provides an analysis of nancial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial 
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is 
observable:
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18.2 Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of nancial position (Continued)
Ÿ  Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 

for identical assets or liabilities;
Ÿ Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within 

Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. 
derived from prices); and

Ÿ Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the 
asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

18.3 Fair value of nancial assets and nancial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on 
  recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are required)

Management considers that the carrying amounts of nancial assets and nancial liabilities recognised in 
the nancial statements approximate their fair values.
          Level 1 Level 2 Total
          K'000 K'000 K'000
   
Fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2018
Financial assets
Trade receivables      -   12 601 471   12 601 471   
Cash and cash equivalents        23 593 536 -   23 593 536

Total           23 593 536 12 601 471 36 195 007

Fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2018
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities held at amortised cost:
Payables        - 7 380 253 7 380 253    
Other payables      - 7 091 963 7 091 963
NBS Bank Bond Facility     - 1 584 265 1 584 265
Taxes payable                     -   2 286 226    2 286 226
   
Total                      -  18 342 707   18 342 707

Fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2017
Financial assets
Trade receivables      - 6 160 858    6 160 858
Cash and cash equivalents        21 286 992                  -     21 286 992

Total           21 286 992 6 160 858     27 447 850

Fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2017
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities held at amortised cost:
Payables        - 5 263 118 5 263 118
Other payables      - 1 225 048 1 225 048
Taxes payable                     - 1 364 383 1 364 383
   
Total                      - 7 852 549 7 852 549
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19.Exchange rates and ination 

The average of the year-end buying and selling rates of the foreign currencies affecting the performance 
of the Roads Fund are stated below, together with the increase in the National Consumer Price Index, 
which represents an ofcial measure of ination.

           2018 2017

Kwacha/US Dollar       725.65 725.49
Ination rate (%)       8.6%    11.3% 

As on 10 October 2018, the exchange and ination rates had moved as disclosed below:

Kwacha/US Dollar        733 95 
Ination rate (August 2018)            9.3%  

20. Comparatives

Where necessary comparatives have been adjusted to conform with changes in the presentation of the 
current year.
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The Roads Fund Administration Act requires the directors to prepare nancial statements for each nancial 
period, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Roads Fund Administration (the 
“Administration”) as at the end of the nancial period and of the operating results for that period.

The Act also requires the directors to ensure the Administration keeps proper accounting records, which 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the nancial position of the Administration and enable them 
to ensure that the nancial statements comply with the Roads Fund Administration Act.

In preparing the nancial statements the directors accept responsibility for the following:

Ÿ Maintenance of proper accounting records;
Ÿ  Selection of suitable accounting policies and consistent application thereof;
Ÿ  Making judgements and estimates that are reasonable and consistently applied;
Ÿ  Compliance with applicable accounting standards when preparing nancial statements; and
Ÿ  Preparation of nancial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that 

the Roads Fund Administration will continue in business in the foreseeable future.

The directors also accept responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard 
the assets of the Administration and to maintain adequate systems of internal control to prevent and detect 
fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are of the opinion that the nancial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the 
nancial affairs of the Administration and of its operating results.

DIRECTOR : 

DIRECTOR : 

DATE   :    26th October, 2018  

ROADS FUND ADMINISTRATION
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES 
For the year ended 30 June 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS OF THE ROADS FUND 
ADMINISTRATION 

Opinion 
We have audited the nancial statements of Roads Fund set out on pages 48 to 74, which comprise the 
statement of nancial position as at 30 June 2018, and the statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in reserves and statement of cash ows for the year then ended, and the notes to the 
nancial statements, including a summary of signicant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the nancial statements give a true and fair view of the nancial position of the fund as at 
30 June 2018, and of its nancial performance and cash ows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and in the manner required by the Roads Fund 
Administration Act.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the fund in accordance with the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of nancial statements in Malawi. We have 
fullled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA code. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufcient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most signicance in our 
audit of the nancial statements of the current period. Any such matters are supposed to be addressed in 
the context of our audit of the nancial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  We did not identify any key audit matters in our 
audit of the nancial statements for the current year.

Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the annual 
report, which is expected to be made available to us after the date of our audit report and the statement of 
directors responsibilities which was made available to us before the date of our audit report. The other 
information does not include the nancial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the nancial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an 
audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the nancial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the  nancial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor's report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements 
The directors are responsible for the preparation of nancial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Roads Fund 
Administration Act and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of nancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the nancial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the fund's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the fund or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the nancial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to inuence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these nancial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
Ÿ  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the nancial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufcient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control; 

Ÿ  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the fund's internal control; 

Ÿ  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors;

Ÿ  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast signicant doubt on the fund's ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to 
the related disclosures in the nancial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the fund to cease to continue as a going 
concern; and

Ÿ  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the nancial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the nancial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and signicant audit ndings, including any signicant deciencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 

Deloitte
Chartered Accountants 
Vilengo Beza
Partner
31st October, 2018
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          Notes 2018 2017
           K'000 K'000
  
ASSETS

NON CURRENT ASSETS
    
Property, plant and equipment    5     364 017     346 557 

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventory       6 17 742 16 120 
Receivables       7 430 206 61 688 
Cash and cash equivalents     8     163 529    347 022  
  
Total current assets            611 477    424 830
 
TOTAL ASSETS            975 494    771 387

RESERVES AND LIABILITIES 

RESERVES 
Capital fund        525 409 463 200  
Accumulated surplus           337 486     247 100  
 
Total Reserves             862 895    710 300
 
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables        9 74 393 37 792 
Provisions       10 27 466 16 292
Taxes payable       11      10 740        7 003
 
Total current liabilities          112 599      61 087  
 
TOTAL RESERVES AND LIABILITIES         975 494     771 387

The nancial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26th 
October, 2018 and were signed on its behalf by:

………………………….……..    ……………………..………….. 
Director       Director
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          Notes 2018 2017
           K'000 K'000
  
INCOME

Funding from Roads Fund      1 027 483 914 365  
Release from capital fund                       153 184 97 727  
Other income                         167 773        52 251  
 
Total income           1 348 440    1 064 343

EXPENSES

Staff costs and training expenses      527 150 363 728  
Premises and ofce expenses       194 061 170 946  
Travel and motor vehicle expenses      152 777 109 332  
Other administrative expenses      171 152 126 692  
Depreciation       5 153 184 97 727   
Consultancy and professional expenses             59 730         10 793  

Total expenses          1 258 054       879 218

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR     12         90 386       185 125
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ROADS FUND ADMINISTRATION
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN RESERVES
For the year ended 30 June 2018

          Capital  Accumulated 
          fund surplus Total
          K'000 K'000 K'000
  

For the year ended 30 June 2018
Balance at the beginning of the year    463 200 247 100 710 300
Capital grants received in year    215 393 - 215 393
Capital grants released to income    (153 184) - (153 184)
Surplus for the year                   -        90 386       90 386    

Balance at the end of the year                      525 409     337 486     862 895   

For the year ended 30 June 2017
Balance at the beginning of the year    279 470 61 975 341 445
Capital grants received in year    281 457 - 281 457
Capital grants released to income    (97 727) - (97 727)
Surplus for the year                    -     185 125    185 125     

Balance at the end of the year                      463 200     247 100     710 300   
 
Capital fund
This represents receipts, in form of capital assets and funds designated for capital expenditure, from the 
Roads Fund and other organisations. The receipts are credited to this fund and released to income over 
the life of the related assets in line with the depreciation charge of the assets.

Capital grants received in the year included K215m (2017:K44m) which related to grants received in form 
of the actual physical assets.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
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          Notes 2018 2017
           K'000 K'000
  
Cash ows from operating activities:

Surplus for the year       90 386 185 125 

Adjustments for:
Ÿ  Depreciation      5 153 184 97 727 
Ÿ  Prot on disposal of plant and equipment    (4 027) (28 241) 
Ÿ  Interest receivable       (16 479) (3 651) 
Ÿ  Release from capital fund         (153 184)     (97 727)  

Surplus before working capital changes    69 880 153 233 

Increase in inventory       (1 622) (5 605) 
(Increase)/decrease in receivables     (368 518) 124 915 
Increase in payables       36 601 22 166 
Increase in provisions and taxes payable            14 911           538 
     
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities                (248 748)     295 247
 
Cash ows from investing activities
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment  4 027 33 879 
Interest received       16 479 3 651 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   5 (137 453) (269 103)
Movement in work in progress             (33 191)       (6 104)  
     
Net cash used in investing activities           (150 138)    (237 677) 

Cash ows from nancing activities
Capital fund receipts               215 393     237 297 
     
  

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents   (183 493) 294 867  

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year            347 022         52 155 
   
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  7          163 529      347 022
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1. General information

The Roads Fund was set up under the Roads Fund Administration Act No. 4 of 2006. The principal 
purpose of the Roads Fund according to Section 19 of the Act is to nance:

Ÿ  The maintenance and rehabilitation of public roads and surveys and monitoring related to such 
maintenance and rehabilitation of public roads;

Ÿ  On cost sharing basis, routine and periodic maintenance of roads, tracks and trails under the 
responsibility of a City, Town, Municipal or District Assembly, as the case may be, for the purposes of 
the Act; and

Ÿ  Emergency works on public roads a provision for which shall be made in the annual budget of the 
Roads Fund Administration. 

The Roads Fund is administered and managed by the Roads Fund Administration. The address of the 
Roads Fund Administration's principal place of business is Roads Fund Administration Head Ofce, 
Ngerengere Complex, Off Mchinji Road, Private Bag 369, Lilongwe 3.

2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards

2.1 Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported and/or disclosed in the nancial 
  statements

In the current year, the company has adopted those new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee of the International Accounting Standards Board that are relevant to its operations and are 
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on 1 April 2017.

The adoption of these new and revised Standards and Interpretations did not have a signicant impact on 
the nancial statements of the company. 

2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, and have not been applied in preparing these nancial statements. 
Those which may be relevant to the company are set out below. The company does not plan to adopt 
these standards early. These will be adopted in the period that they become mandatory unless otherwise 
indicated:
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ROADS FUND ADMINISTRATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2018

2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective (Continued)

Effective date
Annual periods 
beginning on or after 
1 January 2018

Standard, Amendment or Interpretation
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9, issued in November 2009, introduced new requirements for the classication 
and measurement of nancial assets.  IFRS 9 was subsequently amended in October 
2010 to include requirements for the classication and measurement of nancial 
liabilities and for derecognition, and in November 2013 to include the new 
requirements for general hedge accounting.  Another revised version of IFRS 9 was 
issued in July 2014 mainly to include impairment requirements for nancial assets 
and limited amendments to the classication and measurement requirements by 
introducing a 'fair value through other comprehensive income' (FVTOCI) 
measurement category for certain simple debt instruments.

Key requirements of IFRS 9:
Ÿ  All recognised nancial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to 

be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value.  Specically, debt 
investments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the 
contractual cash ows, and that have contractual cash ows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally 
measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods.  Debt 
instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is achieved 
both by collecting contractual cash ows and selling nancial assets, and that 
have contractual terms that give rise on specied dates to cash ows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are 
generally measured at FVTOCI.  All other debt investments and equity investments 
are measured at their fair value at the end of subsequent accounting periods.  In 
addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present 
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for 
trading nor contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business 
combination) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally 
recognised in prot or loss;

Ÿ  With regard to the measurement of measurement of nancial liabilities designated 
as at fair value through prot or loss, IFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in 
the fair value of a nancial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk 
of that liability is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition 
of such changes In other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an 
accounting mismatch in prot or loss.  Changes in fair value attributable to a 
nancial liability's credit risk are not subsequently reclassied to prot or loss.  
Changes in fair value attributable to nancial liability's credit risk are not 
subsequently reclassied to prot or loss.  Under IAS 39, the entire amount of the 
change in the fair value of the nancial liability designated as fair value through 
prot or loss is presented in prot or loss;

Ÿ  In relation to the impairment of nancial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit 
loss model, as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39.  The 
expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses each reporting 
date to reect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.  In other words, it is 
no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are 
recognised; and
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ROADS FUND ADMINISTRATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2018

2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective (Continued)

Effective date
Annual periods 
beginning on or after 
1 January 2018

Standard, Amendment or Interpretation (Continued)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Ÿ The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge 
accounting mechanics currently available in IAS 39.  Under IFRS 9, greater 
exibility has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge 
accounting, specically broadening the types of instruments that qualify for 
hedging instruments and the types of risk components of non-nancial items that 
are eligible for hedge accounting.  In addition, the effectiveness test has been 
overhauled and replaced with the principle of an “economic relationship'.  
Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required.  
Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity's risk management activities 
have also been introduced.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 species how and when an entity will recognise revenue as well as requiring 
such entities to provide users of nancial statements with more informative, relevant 
disclosures.  

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity will recognise revenue to depict the 
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 
services. Specically, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue 
recognition:

Ÿ Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer;
Ÿ Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract;
Ÿ Step 3: Determine the transaction price;
Ÿ Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the 

contract; and
Ÿ Step 5: Recognise Revenue when (or as) the entity satises a performance 

obligation.

Under IFRS15, an entity recognises Revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is 
transferred to the customer.

Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with specic 
scenarios.  Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 15.

In April 2016, the IASB issued Classications to IFRS 15 in relation to the 
identication of performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations, as 
well as licensing application guidance.
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ROADS FUND ADMINISTRATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2018

2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective (Continued)

Effective date
Annual periods 
beginning on or after 
1 January 2019

Annual periods 
beginning on or after 
1 January 2021

Annual periods 
beginning on or after 
1 January 2018

Standard, Amendment or Interpretation (Continued)
IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identication of lease 
arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will 
supersede the current lease guide including IAS 17 Leases and the related 
interpretations when it becomes effective.

IFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on the basis of whether an 
identied asset is controlled by a customer. Distinctions of operating leases (off 
balance sheet) and nance leases (on balance sheet) are removed for lessee 
accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset and 
corresponding liability have to be recognized for all leases by lessees (i.e. all on 
balance sheet) except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost 
(subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 
adjusted for any re-measurement of the lease liability.  The lease liability is initially 
measured at present value of the lease payments that are aid at that date.  
Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as 
the impact of lease modications, amongst others.  Furthermore, the classication of 
cash ows will also be affected as operating lease payments under IAS 17 are 
presented as operating cash ows; whereas under the IFRS 16 model, the lease 
payments will be split into a principal and an interest portion that will be presented as 
nancing and operating cash ows respectively.

In contracts to lessee accounting, IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor 
accounting requirements in IAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a 
lease either as an operating lease or a nance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 16.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

IFRS 17 requires insurance liabilities to be measured at a current fullment value and 
provides a more uniform measurement and presentation approach for all insurance 
contracts. These requirements are designed to achieve the goal of a consistent, 
principle-based accounting for insurance contracts. IFRS 17 supersedes IFRS 4 
Insurance Contracts as of 1 January 2021.

Classication and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions

Amends IFRS 2 Share-based Payment to clarify the standard in relation to the 
accounting for cash-settled share-based payment transactions that include a 
performance condition, the classication of share-based payment transactions with 
net settlement features, and the accounting for modications of share-based payment 
transactions from cash-settled to equity-settled.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2018

2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective (Continued)

Effective date
The amendments to 
IFRS 1 and IAS 28 are 
effective for annual 
periods beginning on 
or after 
1 January 2018

Annual periods 
beginning on or after 
1 January 2018

Annual periods 
beginning on or after 
1 January 2019

Annual periods 
beginning on or after 
1 January 2019

Standard, Amendment or Interpretation (Continued)
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014–2016 Cycle

Makes amendments to the following standards:
Ÿ IFRS 1 - Deletes the short-term exemptions in paragraphs E3–E7 of IFRS 1, 

because they have now served their intended purpose; and
Ÿ IAS 28 - Claries that the election to measure at fair value through prot or loss 

an investment in an associate or a joint venture that is held by an entity that is a 
venture capital organisation, or other qualifying entity, is available for each 
investment in an associate or joint venture on an investment-by-investment basis, 
upon initial recognition.

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The interpretation addresses foreign currency transactions or parts of transactions 
where:
Ÿ there is consideration that is denominated or priced in a foreign currency; 
Ÿ  the entity recognises a prepayment asset or a deferred income liability in respect 

of that consideration, in advance of the recognition of the related asset, expense 
or income; and 

Ÿ  the prepayment asset or deferred income liability is non-monetary.

The Interpretations Committee came to the following conclusion:
Ÿ  The date of the transaction, for the purpose of determining the exchange rate, is 

the date of initial recognition of the non-monetary prepayment asset or deferred 
income liability; and 

Ÿ  If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, a date of transaction is 
established for each payment or receipt.

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

The interpretation addresses the determination of taxable prot (tax loss), tax bases, 
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over 
income tax treatments under IAS 12. It specically considers:
Ÿ  Whether tax treatments should be considered collectively;
Ÿ  Assumptions for taxation authorities' examinations;
Ÿ  The determination of taxable prot (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused 

tax credits and tax rates; and
Ÿ The effect of changes in facts and circumstances.

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to IFRS 9)

Amends the existing requirements in IFRS 9 regarding termination rights in order to 
allow measurement at amortised cost (or, depending on the business model, at fair 
value through other comprehensive income) even in the case of negative 
compensation payments.
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For the year ended 30 June 2018

2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective (Continued)

Effective date
Annual periods 
beginning on or after 
1 January 2019

Standard, Amendment or Interpretation (Continued)
Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to IAS 28)

Claries that an entity applies IFRS 9 Financial Instruments to long-term interests in 
an associate or joint venture that form part of the net investment in the associate or 
joint venture but to which the equity method is not applied.

The directors anticipate that other than IFRS 9, IFRS 15 and IFRS 16 these Standards and Interpretations in 
future periods will have no signicant impact on the nancial statements of the company. IFRS 9 will 
impact the measurement of nancial instruments, IFRS 15 will affect recognition of revenue and IFRS 16 
will impact recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosures of leases. The directors are unable to 
quantify the impact that adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have on the 
nancial statements.

3. Signicant accounting policies

Statement of compliance
The nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards.

Basis of preparation
The nancial statements are prepared in terms of the historical cost convention.   Historically, cost is 
generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange of assets.

The principal accounting policies of the Administration, which are set out below, have been consistently 
followed in all material respects.

3.1 Property, plant and equipment

Basis of preparation
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the statement of nancial position at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

Depreciation is calculated on the straight line basis at rates that will reduce cost of assets to estimated 
residual values over the anticipated useful lives of the assets.  The estimated useful lives, residual values 
and depreciation rates are reviewed at the end of each reporting period with the effect of any changes in 
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis at rates that will reduce book 
amounts to estimated residual values over the anticipated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Motor vehicles     4 years
Computer equipment    3 years
Ofce equipment, furniture and ttings 5 years
Leasehold land and buildings   40 years or, if lower, period of lease
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3. Signicant accounting policies (Continued)
3.1 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Capital work in progress is not depreciated.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benets are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal 
or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the 
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in prot or loss.

3.2 Impairment of non nancial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Administration reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and 
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets haw suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of an individual asset, the Administration estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be 
identied, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are 
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation 
basis can be identied.

Intangible assets with indenite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash ows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specic to the asset for which 
the estimates of future cash ows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in prot or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a 
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating 
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset (or cash- generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in prot or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which 
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

3.3 Foreign currency translations

The results and nancial position of the Administration are expressed in Malawi Kwacha, which is the 
functional currency of the Administration and the presentation currency for the nancial statements.



Transactions in currencies other than the Administration's functional currency (foreign currencies) are 
recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting 
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the 
statement of nancial position date. 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary 
items, are included in the statement of comprehensive income for the period. 

3.4 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, with cost determined on rst-in, rst-out 
(FIFO) basis. Cost comprises direct materials, and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those 
overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

3.5 Employee benets

The Administration contributes to a dened contribution pension scheme for employees.  Contributions are 
charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which the related employment costs 
arises.
 
3.6 Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the Administration's statement of nancial position when 
the Administration becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets
 
Financial assets are classied into the following specied categories: Financial assets 'at fair value through 
prot or loss (FVTPL), 'held-to-maturity investments', available for sale (AFS) nancial assets and 'loans and 
receivables'. The classication depends on the nature and purpose of the nancial assets and is 
determined at the time of initial recognition.

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have xed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market are classied as 'loans and receivables'. Loans and receivables are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. 

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables where 
the recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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3. Signicant accounting policies (Continued)
3.3 Foreign currency translations (Continued)



Held -to- maturity investments
Bills of exchange and debentures with xed or determinable payments and xed maturity dates that the 
Administration has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classied as held-to-maturity 
investments. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are recorded at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method less any impairment.

Financial assets are classied as at FVTPL when the nancial asset is either held for trading or it is 
designated as at FVTPL.

A nancial asset is classied as held for trading if:
Ÿ it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or
Ÿ  on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identied nancial instruments that the fund manages 

together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term prot-taking; or 
Ÿ  it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument. 

A nancial asset other than a nancial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if:
Ÿ  such designation eliminates or signicantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that 

would otherwise arise; or 
Ÿ  the nancial asset forms part of a group of nancial assets or nancial liabilities or both, which is 

managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the 
Administration's documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the 
grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

Ÿ  it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be 
designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement 
recognised in statement of comprehensive income. The net gain or loss recognised in statement of 
comprehensive income incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the nancial asset and is included 
in the 'other gains and losses' line item. 

AFS nancial assets
AFS nancial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as AFS or are not classied as (a) loans 
and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) nancial assets at fair value through prot or loss.

Changes in the carrying amount of AFS monetary nancial assets relating to changes in foreign currency 
rates, interest income calculated using the effective interest method and dividends on AFS equity 
investments are recognised in prot or loss. Other changes in the carrying amount of available-for-sale 
nancial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of 
investments revaluation reserve. When the Investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is reclassied to 
prot or loss.
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3.6 Financial instruments (Continued)



Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in prot or loss when the Administration's right to 
receive the dividends is established.

The fair value of AFS monetary nancial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period. The foreign 
exchange gains and losses that are recognised in prot or loss are determined based on the amortised 
cost of the monetary asset. Other foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.
 
AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value 
cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such 
unquoted equity investments are measured at cost less any identied impairment losses at the end of each 
reporting period.

Impairment of nancial assets
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as 
a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the nancial asset, the 
estimated future cash ows of the investment have been affected,

For all other nancial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

Ÿ signicant nancial difculty of the issuer or counterparty; or
Ÿ  breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; 
Ÿ  it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or nancial re-organisation; or
Ÿ  the disappearance of an active market for that nancial asset because of nancial difculties.

For certain categories of nancial assets, such as trade receivables, assets are assessed for impairment on 
a collective basis even if they were assessed not to be impaired individually. Objective evidence of 
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Administration's past experience of collecting 
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period 
of 90 days, as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with 
default on receivables.

For nancial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the 
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash ows, 
discounted at the nancial asset's original effective interest rate.

For nancial assets that are carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash ows 
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar nancial asset. Such impairment loss will not 
be reversed in subsequent periods.
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Impairment of nancial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the nancial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all nancial assets 
with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the 
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in prot or 
loss.

When an AFS nancial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income are 
reclassied to prot or loss in the period.

For nancial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through prot or loss to the extent that 
the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the 
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised in prot or loss are not 
reversed through prot or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of investments revaluation reserve. In 
respect of AFS debt securities, impairment losses are subsequently reversed through prot or loss if an 
increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the 
recognition of the impairment loss.

Derecognition of nancial assets
The Administration derecognises a nancial asset when the contractual rights to the cash ows from the 
asset expire, or when it transfers the nancial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the Administration neither transfers nor retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Administration 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.  If 
the Administration retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred nancial 
asset, the Administration continues to recognise the nancial asset and also recognises a collateralised 
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a nancial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and 
the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in prot or loss.

On derecognition of a nancial asset other than in its entirety, the Administration allocates the previous 
carrying amount of the nancial asset between the part it continues to recognise under continuing 
involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on 
the date of the transfer. 
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Derecognition of nancial assets (Continued)

The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum 
of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated 
to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in prot or loss.

A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated between 
the part that continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the 
relative fair values of those parts.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments 

Classication as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classied as either nancial liabilities or as equity in accordance with 
substance of the contractual arrangements and the denitions of a nancial liability and equity 
instruments.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs.

Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are classied as either nancial liabilities at 'FVTPL' or 'other nancial liabilities'.
Financial liabilities are classied as at FVTPL where the nancial liability is either held for trading or it is 
designated as at FVTPL.

A nancial liability is classied as held for trading if:
Ÿ  it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term; or 
Ÿ  on initial recognition, it is a part of an identied portfolio of nancial instruments that the 

Administration manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term prot-taking; or
Ÿ it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A nancial liability other than a nancial liability held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon 
initial recognition if:
Ÿ  such designation eliminates or signicantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that 

would otherwise arise; or
Ÿ  the nancial liability forms part of a group of nancial assets or nancial liabilities or both, which is 

managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the 
Administration's documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the 
grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

Ÿ  it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to 
be designated as at FVTPL.
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Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in prot or 
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in prot or loss incorporates any interest paid on the nancial liability 
and is included in other gains and losses line item. 

Other nancial liabilities
Other nancial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction 
costs.

Other nancial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a nancial liability and of 
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the nancial liability, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Derecognition of nancial liabilities 
The Administration derecognises nancial liabilities when, and only when, the Administration's obligations 
are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the nancial 
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in prot or loss.

3.6.2  Financial assets at fair value through prot and loss
 
Bank balances and cash comprise cash on hand and demand deposits and other short-term liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignicant risk 
of changes in value.

3.6.3  Financial liabilities
 
Payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest rate method.

3.7 Roads Fund funding

The Roads Fund Administration is entitled to receive funding from the Roads Fund in accordance with 
Section 17(1) of the Roads Authority Act and Section 21(1) of the Roads Fund Administration Act. Funding 
from the Roads Fund and other receipts of a revenue nature are recognised as income of the Administration 
in the period in which they arise, unless such funding is intended to be matched against specic 
expenditures, in which case it is recognised as income on a matching basis when such expenditure is 
incurred.  

Receipts of a capital nature designated to nance property, plant and equipment are credited to a capital 
fund and released to income over the life of the related assets in line with the depreciation or amortisation 
charge of the assets.
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3.8 Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective 
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the nancial asset to that asset's net carrying amount.

3.9  Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Administration has a present obligation (constructive or legal) as a 
result of a past event, and it is probable that the Administration will be required to settle that obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the statement of nancial position date.  Where a provision is measured using the 
cash ows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash 
ows.

When some or all of the economic benets required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will 
be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

3.10  Taxation

Under the First Schedule of the Taxation Act, the Roads Fund Administration is exempted from income tax.
 
3.11  Bank balances and cash
                             
Bank balances and cash comprise cash on hand and bank balances.

4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

4.1  Critical judgements in applying the Administration's accounting policies
  
No critical judgements were made by management during the current period which would have a material 
impact on the nancial statements.

4.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the nancial 
reporting date that might have a signicant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next nancial year are discussed below.

4.2.1  Estimated residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management has reviewed the remaining useful lives and the residual values used for the purposes of 
depreciation calculations in the light of the requirement for an annual review under the International 
Accounting Standard 16 Property, Plant and Equipment. The accuracy of these will only be borne out over 
time.
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ROADS FUND ADMINISTRATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2018

5. Property, plant and equipment
           Capital
      Land and Motor Ofce        Ofce  work in
      buildings vehicles furniture      equipment progress Total                                                                                                                                                            
            K'000 K'000 K'000   K'000 K'000 K'000

2018                                                                                                                                                      
 
Cost      
At the beginning of the year  160 379 956 32 624 179 539 3 791 596 070
Transfer in    - - - - 170 644 170 644
Transfer out    - - - - (137 453) (137 453) 
Additions    - 83 466 16 495 37 492 - 137 453 
Disposals in the year/Transfers          -     (15 080)       (6 292)      (15 755)              -      (37 127)       
     
At end of the year         160      448 342    42 827    201 276        36 982      729 587
   
Depreciation
At the beginning of the year  - 147 232 25 583 76 698 - 249 513
Charge for the year    - 98 726 7 150 47 308 - 153 184
Disposals in the year              -     (15 080)      (6 292)     (15 755)             -     (37 127)               
 
At the end of the year           - 230 878 26 441  108 251             -     365 570               

Net book value

At end of the year          160     217 464     16 386     93 025    36 982    364 017 

2017                                                                                                                                                      
 
Cost      
At the beginning of the year  160 293 424 26 321 95 811 10 989 426 705   
Additions    - 229 497 7 118 89 949 - 326 564 
Transfers in    - - - - 282 404 282 404
Transfers out    - - - - (289 602) (289 602)
Disposals in the year/Transfers       -   (142 965)        (815)       (6 221)               -   (150 001)       
     
At end of the year          160     379 956     32 624    179 539       3 791     596 070
   
Depreciation
At the beginning of the year  - 206 282 23 635 66 232 - 296 149
Charge for the year    - 78 307 2 748 16 672 - 97 727 
Disposals in the year              -   (137 357)        (800)        (6 206)               -   (144 363)               
 
At the end of the year          -       147 232      25 583      76 698              -     249 513               

Net book value

At end of the year         160     232 724       7 041     102 841       3 791    346 557
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ROADS FUND ADMINISTRATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2018

5. Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
           2018 2017
           K'000 K'000
  
Additions composition:
Total additions as above       137 453 326 564
Less: Donated assets       - (44 160)
Less: WIP brought forward      - (10 989)
Less: WIP written off                     -         (2 312)  

Assets purchased with own resources                                       137 453      269 103

6. Inventory 
  
Stationery and consumables                              17 742       16 120

7. Receivables
           
Funding receivable       325 195 - 
Other receivables       34 864 1 392
Staff receivables       53 162 35 172 
Prepaid insurance        - 11 218  
Other prepayments              16 985       13 906 

Total receivables            430 206       61 688

Receivables mainly comprise of funding receivable from Roads Fund, prepaid insurance, medical and rent 
expenses as well as staff receivables. The staff receivables are recovered through payroll. No interest is 
chargeable on all other receivable except staff receivables.

8. Cash and cash equivalents
           2018 2017
           K'000 K'000

Current account and cash:
National Bank of Malawi current account    33 639 93 370
Petty cash                200 200
 
Total current account balances        33 839         93 570

Fixed deposits:
LFC          129 690 -
Ecobank Malawi       - 202 416
Alliance Capital                    -        51 036

Total xed deposits         129 690      253 452

Total cash and cash equivalents        163 529      347 022
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ROADS FUND ADMINISTRATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2018

8. Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

The bank and cash balances are available on demand. The current account balances earn interest at 
annual rates of up to 5.25% (2017: 5.25%) while xed deposit account balances earn interest at annual 
rates of up to 14% (2017:21%).
             
9. Payables   
           2018 2017
           K'000 K'000
   
Payables to suppliers       74 393 37 692
Other payables                     -          100
 
Total payables             74 393     37 792

Payables to suppliers comprise booked invoices in respect of various purchases made. 

Other payables mainly comprise accrued liabilities in respect of various expenses incurred but whose 
invoices had not yet been received or received but not yet booked as at year-end. 

No interest is charged on payables. The Administration has nancial risk management policies in place to 
ensure that all payables are paid within 30 days.
    
10. Provisions
           2018 2017
           K'000 K'000   
 
Audit fees        14 883 13 871
Gratuity          9 288 -
Tevet levy                3 295        2 421
 
Total provisions             27 466      16 292
              
Audit fees are a provision for professional services rendered by external auditors in respect of the audit of 
the nancial statements of the Roads Fund and the Administration for the year ended 30 June 2018.

11. Taxes payable
           2018 2017
           K'000 K'000

Fringe benets tax       6 485 5 609 
Withholding tax               4 255        1 394 
 
Total taxes payable             10 740       7 003

Fringe benets tax is for the quarter ended 30 June 2018 while withholding tax relates to amounts 
deducted from suppliers on behalf of the Malawi Revenue Authority (MRA) in the month of June 2018. The 
taxes payable represent tax already collected but not yet remitted to MRA.



2018 ANNUAL REPORT | 69

ROADS FUND ADMINISTRATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2018

           2018 2017
           K'000 K'000
  
12. Surplus for the year 

Surplus for the year is arrived at after taking into account the following:

Depreciation on plant and equipment    153 184 97 727
Directors' fees and expenses      2 900 2 589 
Auditors' remuneration      14 883 10 260  
Pension scheme contributions      33 922 25 204  
Tevet levy        3 295 2 421 
Interest receivable       (16 479) (3 651) 
Other income        (147 267) (20 359)
Prot on disposal of plant and equipment    (4 027) (28 241) 
Release from capital fund         (153 184) (97 727)

13. Related party balances and transactions
  
Related parties mainly comprise the Malawi Government and its statutory organisations, the Roads 
Authority and the Administration's directors and senior members of management and persons closely 
associated with them including immediate family members. 

As managers of the Roads Fund, the Roads Fund Administration and the Roads Fund have a related party 
relationship.  Accordingly, the nancial statements for the Roads Fund and these nancial statements 
should be considered together for related party relationship purposes.

Transactions involving related parties are conducted at arm's length. Besides transactions and balances 
with related parties detailed in the statement of comprehensive income and in notes 7 and 9 to the 
nancial statements, the other transactions relate to compensation for key personnel as detailed below: 

Compensation to key personnel
           2018          2017
           K'000  K'000

Salaries and benets of senior management personnel    265 703  174 506

In the period under review two additional employees have been included in senior management, the Chief 
Accountant and Chief Technical Auditor
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ROADS FUND ADMINISTRATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2018

14. Financial instruments and associated risks

14.1 Categories of nancial instruments

The analysis below sets out the Roads Fund Administration's classication of nancial assets and liabilities 
and their values as included in the statement of nancial position.

           2018 2017
           K'000 K'000
  
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents          163 529    347 022  
 
Financial liabilities
Payable and accruals       101 859 54 084
Taxes Payable              10 740        7 003

Total               112 599       61 087 

14.2 Interest rate risk management

The Roads Fund Administration avoids signicant exposure to interest rate risk by not holding signicant 
portions of its assets in interest-bearing investments. 

The Administration had no interest rate bearing loans and investments at year end.

14.3 Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
nancial loss to the Administration. The Administration deals only with creditworthy counterparties as a 
means of mitigating the risk of nancial loss from defaults.

The Administration had only staff loans amounting to K53.2 million (2017: K35.2 million) as at year end. 
The default risk is minimal as recoveries are made directly from employees' monthly salaries.

14.4 Liquidity risk management

The Administration manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate liquid assets and continuously 
monitoring forecast and actual cash ows and matching the maturity proles of nancial assets and 
liabilities.

The Administration had the following categories of nancial assets and liabilities at year end:
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ROADS FUND ADMINISTRATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2018

14. Financial instruments and associated risks (Continued)
14.4 Liquidity risk management (Continued)

The Administration had the following categories of nancial assets and liabilities at year end:
 
                                                                  Up to                     1-3          3-12  
                                   1 month        months     months  Total
2018             K'000  K'000        K'000                 K'000 

Assets 
Cash and bank              163 529 - - 163 529
Income receivable     - 360 059 - 360 059 
Prepaid insurance     - - - -
Other prepayments     - - 16 985 16 985
Staff debtors                     -               -        53 162             53 162 

Total                           163 529    360 059        70 147            593 735    

Liabilities
Payables and accruals       101 859 - - 101 859
Taxes                                     10 740               -                 -           10 740

Total                           112 599                -                 -         112 599
     
    
2017       

Assets 
Cash and bank              347 022               -                  - 347 022
Income receivable     - 1 392 - 1 392
Prepaid insurance     - 11 218 - 11 218
Other prepayments     - - 13 906 13 906
Staff debtors                   -               -      35 172       35 172 

Total                        347 022     12 610      49 078       408 710    

Liabilities
Payables and accruals       54 084  - - 54 084
Taxes                                   7 003                -                -       7 003

Total                         61 087               -               -     61 087

14.5 Foreign currency risk management

The level of exposure to foreign currency risk is low because the incidence of transactions denominated in 
foreign currency is low. Where foreign currency denominated transactions arise, the Administration 
ensures that payments are made promptly. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2018

15. Fair value measurements

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement establishes a single source of guidance  for fair value measurement and 
disclosure  and this apply to both nancial and non-nancial instruments items which either IFRS require 
or permit fair value measurements except  for share based payments that are within the scope of  IFRS 2 
Share-Based Payment leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17 Leases and other 
measurements that have similarities to fair value but are not fair value such Net Realisable Value for 
measuring of inventories and value in use for impairment assessment purposes.

This note provides information about how the entity determines fair values of various nancial assets and 
nancial liabilities. 
  
15.1 Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value

Management considers that the carrying amounts of nancial assets and nancial liabilities recognised at 
amortised cost in the nancial statements approximate their fair values

The fair values of nancial assets and nancial liabilities are determined as follows: 
Ÿ  The fair values of other nancial assets and nancial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are 

determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash ow 
analysis using prices from observable current market transactions and dealer quotes for similar 
instruments.

15.2 Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of nancial position

The following table provides an analysis of nancial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial 
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is 
observable:
Ÿ  Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 

for identical assets or liabilities;
Ÿ  Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within 

Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. 
derived from prices); and

Ÿ  Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the 
asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

15.3 Fair value of nancial assets and nancial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on 
   recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are required)

Management considers that the carrying amounts of nancial assets and nancial liabilities recognised in 
the nancial statements approximate their fair values.
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ROADS FUND ADMINISTRATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2018

15. Fair value measurements (Continued)
15.3 Fair value of nancial assets and nancial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on 
   recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are required) (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2018

          Level 1 Level 2 Total
          K'000 K'000 K'000

Financial assets
Receivables       - 430 206 430 206
Cash and cash equivalents        163 529 - 163 529

Total           163 529              430 206  593 735

Fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2018

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities held at amortised cost:
Payables        -  74 393 74 393
Provisions       - 27 466 27 466
Taxes payables       -                10 740       10 740

Total                     - 112 599  112  599

Fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2017

Financial assets
Receivables       - 61 688    61 688
Cash and cash equivalents        347 022 -     347 022

Total           347 022 61 688     408 710

Fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2017

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities held at amortised cost:
Payables        - 37 792 37 792
Provisions       - 16 292 16 292
Taxes payables                    - 7 003        7 003

Total                     -      61 087       61 087
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ROADS FUND ADMINISTRATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2018

16. Exchange rates and ination

The average of the period-end buying and selling rates of the foreign currencies most affecting the 
performance of the Administration are stated below, together with the increase in the National Consumer 
Price Index, which represents an ofcial measure of ination.
  
           2018  2017          

Kwacha/US Dollar       733.95 725.49 
Ination rate (%)           8.6 %    11.3 % 

As at 8 October 2018, the exchange and ination rates had moved as disclosed below:

Kwacha/US Dollar        735.50 
Ination rate (August 2018)          9.3 % 
    

17. Comparatives

Where necessary comparatives have been adjusted to conform with changes in the presentation of the 
current year.
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ROADS FUND ADMINISTRATION
SCHEDULE OF EXPENSES
For the year ended 30 June 2018

APPENDIX 1
                            2018  2017
           K'000 K'000

Staff Costs and Training Expenses
Salaries and wages       329 455 244 217
Gratuity         9 288 -
External training       36 593 15 019
School fees        45 346 41 104
Pension contribution       33 922 25 204
Local training        18 962 7 531
Fringe benets tax       25 428 17 456
Medical expenses       24 015 10 031
Tevet Levy        3 295 2 421
Leave grant                  846 745

Total staff costs and training expenses    527 150 363 728

Premises and ofce expenses
Rent          46 503 49 770
Maintenance        20 177 14 227
Utilities         32 279 28 319
Security         10 066 8 508 
Stationery        29 856 22 894
Advertising and postage      10 931 9 430
Subscriptions        25 350 16 139
Staff recruitment and welfare      7 924 11 715
Other ofce expenses       9 973 9 908
Uniforms and protective clothing               1 002                 36

Total premises and ofce expenses           194 061         170 946

Consultancy and professional expenses
Audit fees - annual audit      14 883 10 260
Consultancies        37 476 533
Legal fees                  7 371                   -

Total consultancy and professional expenses            59 730         10 793

Travel and motor vehicle expenses
Fuel          58 675 49 911
External travel        13 429 25 713
Accommodation       29 868 10 538
Repairs and maintenance      33 345 15 866
Local travel and hiring charges     3 036 781
Subsistence allowances      14 307 6 523
Fees and licenses                         117                        -

Total travel and motor vehicle expenses         152 777     109 332
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ROADS FUND ADMINISTRATION
SCHEDULE OF EXPENSES
For the year ended 30 June 2018

APPENDIX 1 (Continued)
                            2018  2017
           K'000 K'000

Staff Costs and Training Expenses
Board Expenses       68 679 45 585
Insurances        27 564 23 677
Public relations       50 544 49 077
Compensation payment expenses     19 355 4 394
Directors fees        2 900 2 589
Bad debts--Bank charges                 2 110         1 370

 Total other administrative expenses            171 152     126 692  
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